#### No. 46654-6-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE PORT OF LONGVIEW, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

### A. INTRODUCTION

The trial court misapplied fundamental issues of liability insurance in this case. These mishandled issues go to the core of the purpose of insurance, which is to provide coverage against losses that are unknown to the insured at the time insurance coverage was placed. This case also raises the question of whether an insured can wait decades to notify an insurer of a claim, and still expect coverage to apply.

For liability insurance to cover a claim, there must be a loss that is (1) "fortuitous," which means unexpected and unintended, (2) covered by the insurer's policy, and (3) not specifically excluded from coverage by the terms of the policy. Even when these three prerequisites are met, an insured must abide by policy conditions, for example giving timely notice of a claim to the insurer.

The trial court here misapplied *each* of these core liability insurance principles in its various decisions. The Port of Longview ("Port") expected or intended the property damage for which it seeks coverage. Because the Port expected or intended the property damage at issue, there are no covered "occurrences" as defined in the Port's primary policies, particularly with respect to one site that the Port purchased long after the expiration of LMI's policies, knowing that the damage had already occurred. Because the Port also expected or intended the polluting events that resulted in the property damage at issue, the pollution exclusions in the excess policies bar coverage. Finally, the Port's decades-late notice to LMI was a violation of a policy condition that prejudiced LMI. The trial court should have dismissed all of the Port's claims on that basis.

In addition to these fundamental errors, the trial court imposed a harsh sanction of issue preclusion *and* monetary sanctions on LMI for producing some documents one week later than the court had ordered, sanctions the Court admitted were "arbitrary." The trial court then refused to sanction the Port's own discovery misconduct revealed during trial, despite the fact that the misconduct resulted in a mistrial.

This Court now has the opportunity to properly apply core liability insurance principles. There is no coverage under the policies at issue, or in the alternative, a new trial is warranted.

### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- (1) <u>Assignments of Error</u>
- 1. The trial court erred in denying LMI's motions for summary judgment/judgment as a matter of law regarding the issue of known loss/fortuity in its order dated September 11, 2012.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying LMI's motions for summary judgment/judgment as a matter of law regarding the issue of an "occurrence" under the policy terms in its orders dated September 11, 2012 and November 12, 2013.

- 3. The trial court erred in denying LMI's motions for summary judgment/judgment as a matter of law regarding the issue of late notice prejudice in its orders dated September 11, 2012, December 21, 2012, February 5, 2013, October 16, 2013, and November 5, 2013.
- 4. The trial court erred in restricting the evidence of late notice prejudice to be presented at trial in its orders dated September 11, 2012, December 21, 2012, February 5, 2013, and October 16, 2013.
- 5. The trial court erred in granting the Port's motion regarding "site wide liability" in two orders dated Sept. 28, 2012.
- 6. The trial court erred in denying LMI's motions for summary judgment/judgment as a matter of law regarding the issue of qualified pollution exclusions in its excess policies in its orders dated November 13, 2013, March 27, 2014, and April 7, 2014.
- 7. The trial court erred in giving Instructions 10, 11, 12, and 15, and in giving the special verdict form.
- 8. The trial court abused its discretion regarding discovery sanctions against LMI in its orders dated February 4, 2013, June 12, 2013 and October 16, 2013.
- 9. The trial court erred in entering judgment on August 1, 2014.
- (2) <u>Issues Relating to Assignments of Error</u>
- 1. Does an insured's 19-year-late notice of a claim for coverage of pollution damage to the property of a third party preclude coverage as a matter of law, when in the intervening years the insurer has been prejudiced by lost valuable subrogation and contribution rights from the responsible polluters, removed, altered, or degraded evidence, lost ability to investigate the damage and the

claim, deceased or unavailable key witnesses, and other factors?

- 2. In the alternative, if late notice prejudice does not exist as a matter of law, is a new trial warranted where the trial court improperly restricted the evidence of late notice prejudice to narrow facts, rather than allowing the jury to evaluate all of the evidence of prejudice?
- 3. Do the known loss/fortuity rules of insurance apply to preclude coverage where an insured knowingly, admittedly, and intentionally purchased one polluted property, and presented no evidence to contradict substantial evidence that it knew another property was polluted before the purchase?
- 4. An "occurrence" under the insurance policies at issue is an accident that is not expected or intended. Did the Port meet its burden of proving the property damage at issue here was a covered "occurrence" when the Port either presented no evidence regarding its expectations or intentions, or it was undisputed that the Port purchased property knowing the groundwater was damaged?
- 5. Washington law provides that a party trying to overcome a qualified pollution exclusion must demonstrate that it did not expect or intend a "pollution event" on its property that resulted in the property damage at issue. Is it error to allow that insured and the jury to evaluate only whether that insured had knowledge that the pollution event had actually contaminated the groundwater, and not whether the insured expected open, obvious, and documented pollution events?
- 6. Is the sanction of issue preclusion and monetary sanctions the least severe means of addressing a one-week delay in disclosing some documents under a discovery order, particularly when any claimed prejudice is eliminated after the opposing party's own discovery violation causes a mistrial, thereby providing 10 additional months to review the week-late documents?

## C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) <u>Factual Background of the Port's Purchase of the Sites at</u> <u>Issue and Pollution History</u>

The Port's claims for third-party liability insurance coverage for damage to the State's groundwater stem from pollution caused entirely by other parties; pollution which occurred when those other parties either owned the properties, or leased/licensed them from the Port. A description of the properties at issue, how they came to be polluted, and how the Port acquired potential liability for them, is important to understanding the arguments on review.

> (a) <u>The "Treated Wood Products" ("TWP") Site Was</u> <u>Openly and Intentionally Polluted By a Former</u> <u>Owner of the Property From the 1940's to the</u> <u>1970's; the Port Purchased the Property in 1999</u> <u>Knowing It Was Polluted and that Groundwater</u> <u>Contamination Had Already Occurred</u>

From the 1940s until the 1970s, International Paper ("IP") operated a wood treating plant on the TWP site, using creosote first, then pentachlorophenol, as wood preservatives. CP 457-458. IP discharged its process wastewater, containing wood treating contaminants, via an open ditch ("the lineament ditch") that led to scepage ponds. CP 458. According to the Port's own expert and the undisputed evidence, these open and obvious polluting activities on the TWP, adjacent to the Port's property, began long before the date of the first policy at issue in this case. CP 457, 790. The Port presented no evidence that it lacked knowledge of these open and obvious pollution activities taking place on the Port's doorstep.

The lineament ditch was in operation until 1966, when IP began discharging its waste to ponds on the TWP site. CP 790. In EPA site inspections of the TWP in 1981, groundwater sampling revealed that hazardous wastes were present in the groundwater. In 1985, the EPA inspected the lineament ditch separating the TWP from the MFA. *Id.* The inspection noted, "the ditch water was dark and oily, and the ditch soils were stained black and sludge-like in appearance. An oil sheen was apparent on the soils and on the water." *Id.* 

In 1982, the TWP facility ceased operations. CP 791. IP entered into a long process with the EPA, and then with the Washington Department of Ecology ("DOE") to investigate and remediate the TWP site. *Id.* In 1996, IP sent a letter to the DOE stating IP's belief that the Port was a potentially liable party ("PLP") under the Model Toxics Control Act, RCW 70.105D ("MTCA"). CP 3247. Despite IP's assertion, DOE did not name the Port as a PLP with respect to the TWP.

In August 1997, IP entered into an agreed order and a consent decree with the DOE, in which IP assumed complete responsibility for cleaning up the TWP and the associated groundwater. CP 707-741. In 1999, the Port purchased the TWP site from IP, with full knowledge of the site's contamination. CP 1377. The purchase and sale agreement acknowledged the contamination and assigned all responsibility for the investigation and cleanup to IP. CP 1380-81. However, the Port was aware when it purchased the property that the purchase made it "automatically liable" to clean up any "mess" IP might fail to remediate. CP 12544-12545. DOE and IP eventually agreed on a remedy requiring IP to construct a subsurface barrier wall to prevent the contamination from migrating, and to construct an engineered cap to prevent water infiltration. CP 1365. The remedy also required IP to conduct long-term monitoring. CP 1366.

In 2005, DOE sent the Port – now an owner of contaminated property subject to the consent decree with IP – a PLP letter. CP 2718. However, neither EPA nor DOE has required the Port to conduct any investigation or remediation of the TWP. CP 1625-1626.

> (b) <u>The Maintenance Facility Area ("MFA") Site Was</u> <u>Polluted by Migration of Contaminants IP Dumped</u> <u>Into the "Stinky" Lineament Ditch by IP From</u> <u>1947-1965</u>

In 1963 and 1965, the Port purchased property from IP which is now referred to as the MFA site. CP 2690-2702. The MFA site abuts the TWP site. CP 14007; Appendix A. The open, unlined wastewater discharge ditch that operated in the 1940s and 1950s traversed the MFA. CP 14103. When the Port purchased the MFA, IP had been engaged in this open and obvious polluting activity for decades. CP 457, 790. The Port never offered any evidence that it lacked knowledge of the open and obvious polluting activity.

IP's pollution emanated from the TWP to the MFA; the MFA is polluted "due to activities on the TWP property." CP 3867. This pollution was partly through groundwater and partly through open disposal of polluted wastewater into the unlined lineament ditch adjacent to the TWP. CP 4507. During construction of the barrier wall around the TWP, IP discovered contamination outside the barrier wall, in the MFA. CP 791. The contaminated area aligned with the former lineament ditch. CP 792.

IP agreed to amendment of the consent decree to include investigation and remediation of the MFA portion of the site, and the Port has only been asked to comment on IP's work. CP 2844. Like the TWP, remediation of the MFA remains solely the responsibility of IP.

> (c) <u>The Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon ("TPH") Site</u> Was Polluted By Leaking Oil Pipelines and Tanks; <u>Significant Pollution Emanated from Leaking</u> <u>Pipelines Replaced in the Early 1970's</u>

Port tenants and licensees, notably Chevron, Longview Fibre, and Crown Zellerbach/James River, maintained petroleum pipelines, storage tanks, and loading racks on property leased or licensed to them by the Port over the decades from the 1920s to the mid-1980s. CP 823, CP 17498-17505. In the 1960s and 70s, pollution occurred on many occasions in the form of releases directly into the air and soil. CP 823. For example, spills occurred during the loading and unloading of fuel "through the operational life" of the 80,000 barrel storage tank, as well as from the Calloway Ross tank and the rail operations. CP 827. Numerous other releases occurred during pipeline repairs and replacements until environmental controls were implemented in the late 1970s. CP 826. Again, the Port presented no evidence that it was ignorant of these substantial polluting activities on its property by its lessees and licensees.

By 1985, all of Port's lessees and licensees operating petroleum pipelines and storage tanks had shut down their operations. CP 823-824. In 1991, the Port removed a leaking underground fuel tank that had been used by a lessee, Calloway-Ross. CP 824. Petroleum contamination was evident, not only from the tank but from other sources. CP 21005. The Port began investigating possible groundwater contamination at the TPH site. CP 18253. The Port hired a consultant to investigate the extent of the contamination and retained outside counsel to pursue contribution from responsible parties. CP 10904. In 1991, the Port's counsel identified 10 potentially liable parties ("PLPs")<sup>1</sup> with respect to the TPH site. *Id.* 

The TPH investigation went on for many years. CP 21005. Only limited remediation was performed. CP 21008-21009. The Port expressed concerns that complete remediation of the TPH to protect groundwater would interfere with its operations. CP 5988.

In 1998, the Port voluntarily entered into a cost-sharing agreement with two of the PLPs, Chevron and Longview Fibre. CP 433-441. The Port agreed to contribute 20 percent of investigation/remediation costs going forward, up to certain limits, and agreed to settle its claims for past costs with Chevron upon Chevron's payment of a portion of the past costs incurred by the Port. *Id.* The Port never received a PLP letter from the DOE and has not otherwise conducted an investigation or remediation under the DOE's supervision.

> (d) <u>Despite Knowledge of Potential Groundwater</u> <u>Contamination at Each Site Since at Least 1991 and</u> <u>1996, the Port Does Not Take Action to Protect Its</u> <u>Rights Under MTCA or Notify Its Insurers</u>

Despite knowing as early as 1991 that TPH pollution had reached State-owned groundwater, and despite knowing since 1996 that TWP pollution also contaminated the groundwater, the Port did not notify LMI

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "potentially liable party" under MTCA is explained at Section D(1) infra.

of potential liability for 19 and 14 years, respectively. The Port also did not bring a MTCA contribution action against any other PLPs, who were the actual polluters. In August 2010, the Port filed this coverage action. CP 1.

In the intervening decades before the Port notified LMI of its claims, much changed. Key witnesses with knowledge of the sites in the 1960s and 1970s, have died or are otherwise unavailable. CP 13531. In particular, two witnesses that the Port admitted were the most knowledgeable regarding the Port's historical operations and the contamination history. CP 13531, 13741, 17501-17505. Evidence from that time period is either lost or is much more difficult to locate. CP 13503-14089. The Port destroyed documents relating to the TPH site. CP 13540. Calloway-Ross, a PLP as to the TPH site, went out of business. CP 17863. TPH contamination degraded and changed in its chemical nature, making it impossible to definitively establish the dates and sources of property damage. CP 13914. The Port also chose to purchase the TWP before it notified LMI, assuming PLP status as an owner of the TWP. CP 469.

In 2010, special counsel to the Port suggested that the Port's almost two-decades-old liability policies, issued in the 1970s and early 1980s, were "stale." CP 1557. Although the Port acknowledged that "no

one is suing the port right now," it concluded that it should seek coverage under the policies before they became any more "stale." CP 1558. The Port admitted that "witnesses that would have had knowledge are no longer working or no longer reachable." CP 1559.

#### (2) <u>Procedural Background</u>

The Port sued its insurers in August 2010 for damages and declaratory judgment. CP 1-8. The complaint was filed in Cowlitz County Superior Court and assigned to the Honorable Stephen M. Warning. CP 120.

Among the many entities the Port sued were various London insurance underwriters referred to collectively as "LMI," the appellants in this case. The collective "LMI" refers to certain Underwriters at Lloyds, London and certain London Market Insurance Companies. CP 16. *Id*.

The Port moved to bifurcate the trial on its declaratory judgment and damages claims: Phase 1 would address declaratory judgment relief and Phase 2 would address the issue of damages. CP 40. LMI opposed the motion, arguing that the question of damages related to insurance coverage issues such as late notice, justiciable controversy, occurrence, etc. CP 48. Nevertheless, the trial court granted the Port's motion to bifurcate. CP 118-120, 10102-10104.

(a) <u>Late Notice Prejudice Issue</u>

LMI moved for summary judgment on the issue of the Port's late notice, which breached policy terms regarding prompt notice to insurers. CP 1437-1452, 1984.<sup>2</sup> It argued that the Port's 19-year late notice as to TPH, and 14-year late notice as to TWP, was late as a matter of law. CP 1444. LMI and other defendants argued that the Port's delay caused a significant loss of evidence. CP 1991, 3078. LMI also argued that the Port's voluntary payments of past investigative costs and other payments made under the Chevron cost sharing agreement had prejudiced LMI's position. *Id.* 

The trial court found that the Port breached the notice conditions of LMI's policies, stating that "by whatever standard we use," notice to LMI was late as a matter of law. CP 5019. The trial court also ruled the LMI was prejudiced as a matter of law by the Port's breach of the voluntary payment conditions of the policies. *Id.* However, the court ruled that the late notice prejudice did not preclude coverage as a matter of law. Instead, the court ruled that the Port court not recover any alleged damages incurred with respect to the 1998 Chevron cost sharing agreement regarding the TPH, but let litigation proceed on the coverage issue. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> One late notice prejudice motion was brought by a co-defendant, Marine Indemnity. CP 1984. LMI joined in that motion. CP 3077.

LMI later moved for summary judgment regarding prejudice from the Port's late notice. CP 6796. It renewed the motion at various points pretrial. CP 8748, 13477. It raised all of the following specific types of prejudice caused by the Port's decision to wait two decades before providing notice:

- The decommissioned Calloway-Ross tank was identified as a source of contamination, making Calloway-Ross a PLP with respect to the TPH site. The Port removed the tank and destroyed evidence of the leak, and never pursued Calloway-Ross or its insurer for contribution or indemnity. CP 10262, 17787.
- In 2006, Calloway-Ross dissolved as a corporation, putting it forever beyond the reach of any subrogation or contribution action by LMI as to the TPH. CP 6830, 6850, 17863.
- The Port entered into a prejudicial cost-sharing agreement with other PLPs as to the TPH, rather than establishing that as the only non-polluting PLP, it should be liable for no cleanup costs (a MTCA contribution action distributes liability based on equity). The Port's own expert hired in the mid-1990s concluded that the Port had zero liability for the TPH pollution. CP 8751, 17394.
- LMI lost the opportunity to investigate and pursue numerous other PLPs as to the TPH site, because witnesses and evidence were no longer available. CP 13503-14089, 16136.
- LMI lost the ability to enforce indemnity agreements with the Port's lessees and licensees at the TPH site because of the Port's earlier cost sharing agreements with them. CP 16133-16136.

- Key witnesses to events on both sites have either passed away, or their memories are faded. Specifically, the Port's former general manager and former director of engineering, who the Port conceded were the most knowledgeable about its historical operations, are no longer available. The Port had no other institutional memory from the 1960's and 1970's. Other potential witnesses to operations, pollution events, and PLP activities passed away before the Port gave LMI notice. CP 8751-8752.
- Substantial evidence regarding the timing, extent, and age of contamination at both sites was no longer available; this evidence was relevant to establishing liable parties and also to establishing when contamination occurred, which is relevant to LMI's policy defenses. CP 13479-13909.

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