No. 46654-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

THE PORT OF LONGVIEW, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

INTERESTED UNDERWRITERS AT LLOYD'S, LONDON, et al.,

Appellants,

and

ARROWOOD INDEMNITY COMPANY, MARINE INDEMNITY
INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, INDEMNITY MARINE
ASSURANCE COMPANY, LTD

Defendants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

The Nadler Law Group PLLC
720 3rd Avenue, Suite 1400
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 621-1433

Mark S. Nadler, WSBA No. 18126
Liberty Waters, WSBA No. 37034
John S. Dolese, WSBA No. 18015,
of Counsel

Attorneys for Port of Longview, Respondent

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

event, especially one that happens without being designed or expected. *Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 634 (2002), citing *Truck Ins. Exch. v. Rohde*, 49 Wn.2d 465 (1956). In order to establish an occurrence, an insured need only prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that it subjectively did not expect or intend the property damage that is the basis for the covered liability. *Queen City Farms v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 68-72 (1994); *Overton*, 145 Wn.2d at 428. Here, the property damage that is the basis of the Port's liability is contamination to groundwater at concentrations exceeding MTCA cleanup levels. *Puget Sound Energy v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's*, 134 Wn. App. 228, 253-254 (2006). Therefore, to establish an occurrence under each policy, the Port was only required to prove it did not expect or intend groundwater contamination exceeding mandated cleanup levels prior to the policy periods.

In reviewing a CR 50(b) motion, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court. *Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 517, 529, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). A motion for judgment as a matter of law may only be granted if there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to make the subject findings of fact. CR 50(a)(1). The court must accept the truth of the nonmoving party's evidence and draw all favorable inferences that may reasonably be evinced. 126 Wn.2d at 98-99. Here, the Port's evidence was more than sufficient for a jury to find (as it did), that the Port did not expect or intend the property damage (groundwater contamination) at

either site prior to purchasing the insurance policies at issue.

By repeatedly referring to the operations occurring on the site as the “polluting events,” LMI attempt to conflate the knowledge of the industrial operations with the knowledge that those operations were placing hazardous substances in the soil and the groundwater. Much has changed over the last 50 years regarding society’s understanding of how everyday activities can damage the environment. Practices such as using waste oil for dust control on gravel roads, once thought to be harmless if given any thought at all, are now no longer done because we have subsequently learned that oil dumped on the ground can actually reach the groundwater and cause damage. The Court should not let LMI improperly imprint today’s understanding onto Port personnel 50 years ago in order to create the misimpression that Port expected, intended, or even understood the concept of contamination. The court’s denial of LMI’s motions and the Jury’s unanimous verdict should not be disturbed.

MFA Claim. The Port did not operate the facilities that caused the contamination at the TWP site. 11/7/2013 RP 607. Therefore, it is undisputed that the Port did not *intend* either a release of contaminants or the resulting groundwater contamination at the site. The Jury found the Port had proved it did not expect contamination at the TWP site prior to the purchase of the policies. CP 18649-18650. The decision was supported by the Port’s former Executive Director’s testimony that the Port had no expectations or concerns regarding groundwater contamination prior to 1984, and its Director of Engineering’s testimony

that the Port constructed a “green” maintenance building on the MFA plume of creosote. 11/7/2013 RP 629-637. 11/7/2013 RP 545-581. The Port’s expert testified that the environmental regulations prohibiting unlined wastewater ditches did not go into effect until the 1970s, and that even Ecology directed wastewater to be disposed in this manner as late as the 1970s. 11/12/2013 RP 1077-1078. Thus, it is reasonable to infer that even if Port management were aware of the MFA ditch in the 1960s, they would not be aware of or expect that the ditch was a source of contamination, much less contamination to groundwater. Thus, the court’s orders denying LMI’s CR 50 motions on this issue and the Jury’s unanimous verdict should not be disturbed.

TPH Claim. To establish occurrences at the TPH Site, the Port provided the same type of testimony from Mr. O’Hollaren that was discussed above with respect to the TWP site. In addition, Mr. O’Hollaren testified that the Port was not involved in operating the tankage and underground pipelines that caused the releases, and that the Port would not typically have undertaken replacement of the Chevron pipelines in the 1950s or 1960s. 11/7/2013 RP 560-561, 572. Further, the Port’s expert testified that existing contamination might not have been apparent during construction of the new pipelines. 11/12/2013 RP 1150-1152.

The Port provided direct evidence that it had no expectation of any groundwater contamination by 1980, which is circumstantial evidence that it did not have that knowledge or expectation at anytime prior to that date. Such an inference is supported by the Port’s expert’s testimony about the

lack of understanding regarding contamination during the 1950s and 1960s. Because the Port's evidence is more than sufficient to sustain the Jury's findings, the trial court's orders should not be disturbed.

The Exception to the Pollution Exclusions. The Port needed only prove it did not expect or intend a release of contamination to groundwater at the sites prior to the policy periods in order to fit within the sudden and accidental exception to the qualified pollution exclusions in certain of the Excess Policies. *Queen City Farms*, 126 Wn.2d 5 at 91-93. The trial court correctly denied LMI's CR 50 motions on this issue because the same evidence discussed above with respect to the occurrence requirement is more than sufficient to overcome a CR 50 motion.

The Port does not need to prove it did not expect what LMI terms the "polluting event," which they define as the operations that we now understand, but did not then understand, caused the contamination. In *Queen City Farms*, the insureds knowingly deposited contaminated materials into a landfill, but claimed they did not expect that contaminated material to be released into the environment. 126 Wn.2d at 92. The court analyzed the insurance industry's representations regarding the intent of the qualified pollution exclusion—to exclude coverage for intentional polluters—and determined that an intentional polluter is one who knowingly deposited contaminants with the intention and expectation that it would be released into the environment. Thus, the exclusion would not apply when the insured knowingly deposited contaminants but did not expect them to be released into the environment. 126 Wn.2d at 93.

That court also recognized there were likely to be situations in which the damage/discharge distinction (between the occurrence requirement and the pollution exclusion exception) may be insignificant as a practical matter. 126 Wn.2d at 89. Here, is such a case. The Port was not involved in the operations and thus, like most people at the time, the Port had no reason to know that the operations were depositing contamination at all. And the Port certainly could not be considered an intentional polluter. The evidence establishing that the Port had no expectation of groundwater contamination also proved it had no expectation of a release of contamination to the groundwater. The Port's evidence was sufficient, and the trial court's orders denying LMI's CR 50 motions should be upheld.

C. No Actual and Substantial Late Notice Prejudice

Despite LMI's conclusory statements alleging prejudice due to lost subrogation rights, altered evidence, lost ability to investigate, and deceased witnesses, LMI failed to make any showing whatsoever on certain of those assertions and on others failed to show any actual and substantial prejudice for either site. To the contrary, the sites are not cleaned up, LMI are not liable for any of the Port's past costs, and the Port has not entered into any agreements with Ecology or with other PLPs that could affect LMI's ability to defend the Port or recover any future remedial costs from other liable parties.

First, none of LMI's arguments about late notice apply to the Excess Policies. Neither the trial court nor the Jury determined that the

Port breached any provision of these policies.²³ Second, the Port's notice under the Primary Policies was not found to be 19 and 14 years late, as LMI repeatedly asserts. The trial court never determined *when* the Port had the requisite knowledge to trigger the notice requirement under the policies.²⁴ CP 5017-5020. The evidence at trial clearly established that in 1991, the Port did not understand there was a claim against it for which it might have insurance coverage. This is not surprising given that LMI repeatedly asserted that the Port's claims are unripe and that the Port has no legal liability at the sites.²⁵ Also, when the Port discovered the contamination at the TPH site in 1991, Washington courts had not yet interpreted liability policies to provide coverage for cleanup costs absent a lawsuit or formal enforcement proceedings by an environmental agency, which was not (and is still not) present at the TPH site.²⁶

It is well settled that in order to avoid "a questionable windfall for

²³ 10/4/2013 RP 87: CP 18648-18651. The Judgment determined coverage under eleven different insurance policies, only four of which were the subject of the orders to which LMI assigns error. LMI's late notice defense under the Excess Policies policies was disposed of on April 9, 2014, when the trial court granted the Port's Motion for Summary Judgment on Second Cause of Action (Declaratory Judgment) Against Excess Policies. CP 20210-20211. LMI have not appealed this order.

²⁴Nor does the Port concede that its notice was late by not cross appealing the trial court's order *denying* LMI's summary judgment motion.

²⁵LMI filed numerous summary judgment motions on the issue and even petitioned for an interlocutory discretionary review of the trial court's determination that the Port had legal liability for the groundwater contamination at the sites. *See, e.g.*, CP 1342-1352, 6091-6110, 6360-6372, 11315-11331, 12779-12784.

²⁶The *Weyerhaeuser* opinion, which finally determined that there is coverage for "cleanups conducted in cooperation with state agencies," was not issued until 1994. *Weyerhaeuser Co., v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 891 (1994).

the insurer at the expense of the public” an insurer must show *actual* and *substantial* prejudice from a policy breach. *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 422 (2008). That court held that “...in order to show prejudice, the insurer must prove that an insured’s breach of a notice provision had an identifiable and material detrimental effect on its ability to defend its interests.” *Id.* at 430.

In *Canron*, this Court observed that “...previous decisions reject speculation, and require evidence of concrete detriment resulting from delay, together with some specific harm to the insurer caused thereby.” *Canron v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 82 Wn. App. 480, 487 (1996). There, like here, the insurer claimed prejudice based upon the arguments that changes had occurred at the site, records had been destroyed, witnesses had become unavailable, and the insurer was unable to do its own investigations. This Court rejected all of those arguments because no evidence was introduced to identify any specific harm resulting from the site changes, to show what records had been destroyed or how the loss affected the insurer, or to show what information the unavailable witnesses might have had. *Id.* at 489. Further, the insurer did not explain what further investigation was necessary but precluded, why the investigations performed were inadequate, and the court noted that once notified, the insurer conducted no investigation of its own. *Id.* at 489-490.

MFA Claim. LMI’s late notice defense to the TWP site claims was stricken when LMI failed to produce sufficient evidence to create a triable issue of fact in response to the Port’s November 1, 2012 motion for

summary judgment on the topic. CP 8687-8690. *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.* 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 (1989). LMI presented no evidence of any alleged prejudice from the Port's late notice regarding the TWP site other than to incorporate their August 2012 motion seeking summary judgment based on late notice. CP 7755-7757. LMI made only two arguments in that earlier motion, neither of which is addressed in their appellate brief.²⁷ The only evidence before the trial court at the time of the Port's summary judgment motion established the following: 1. that the Port acquired the MFA area of the TWP site from IP in the early 1960s (CP 1441); 2. that the Port purchased the Plant area from IP in 1999²⁸ (CP 1442); 3. that the Port had not been required by any agency to do, and in fact had not done, anything with respect to the site other than monitor IP's remedial activities on the site (CP 1442-1443); and 4. that Ecology issued a PLP letter to the Port for the site in 2005. (CP 1442).

In their August 27, 2012 reply, which LMI did not incorporate in their response to the Port's summary judgment motion, LMI argued that they were prejudiced by the unavailability of Mr. Foster and Mr.

²⁷The first is that prior to giving notice the Port incurred costs monitoring IP's remedial work on the Plant area. This issue is moot given the court's subsequent orders dismissing the Port's past cost claims. The second was that LMI were prevented from asserting the plume defense to MTCA liability in response to the PLP letter Ecology sent to the Port. CP 1452. In response to a different motion, the court found that the undisputed evidence proved this defense was never available to the Port. CP 5035-5038.

²⁸LMI refers to this transaction as the Port's purchase of the TWP site, when in reality it was only the purchase of the wood treating plant area. LMI's characterization is misleading because it falsely suggests that the Port purchased the entire site many years after it purchased the insurance at issue in this case and with full knowledge of the environmental property damage on the site.

McNannay. CP 3685 Neither this issue nor the new allegations of prejudice identified in Appellants' brief were properly raised below and should, thus, not be considered by this Court. RAP 2.5(a); *Unigard Ins. Co. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 160 Wn. App. 912, 922 (2011). However, even if the Court considers these new arguments, they fail anyway for lack of evidence.

LMI assert for the first time on appeal that they could have raised the third-party-not-in-privity defense or the innocent landowner defense to MTCA liability if the Port had provided notice in 2005 after receiving its PLP letter. (RCW 70.105D.040(3)(a) and RCW 70.105D.040(3)(b)(i)). LMI have made no showing that such defenses would have been effective, had they been made in 2005.²⁹

Nor do LMI cite to any evidence that Mr. Foster or Mr. McNannay possessed any testimonial knowledge regarding the TWP site at all, let alone testimony that could have materially benefitted LMI's defense to coverage or liability.³⁰ There is no evidence in the record that these individuals had any testimony on the topic to support a finding of prejudice. Thus, the trial court correctly concluded that LMI failed to show any late notice prejudice at the TWP site, and it correctly granted the

²⁹See discussion of these MTCA defenses in Section III.E.1, below.

³⁰LMI repeatedly makes allegations that these witnesses had "critical" knowledge, but the cited evidence only establishes their job titles, the fact that they were employed at the Port during a certain timeframe, and the fact that Mr. McNannay was present during the Calloway Ross tank pull on the TPH site. App. Br. at 11, 38, CP 13530-13531, 13741, 17501-17505; 11/7/2013 RP 603.

Port's motion. Accordingly, the trial court's order excluding evidence of late notice prejudice at that site under ER 401 and ER 403 was neither manifestly unreasonable nor based on untenable grounds, and should therefore not be disturbed. *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 671 (2010)(trial courts enjoy wide discretion in balancing probative value against its potentially prejudicial impact).

Even if the trial court's decision could be viewed as error, LMI have not preserved the issue for appeal because they do not identify what specific evidence was excluded. LMI have not discussed any offer of proof³¹, nor have they identified which exhibits or testimony they would have presented or how that evidence would have impacted the verdict. The Court should not consider LMI's generalized challenge to the trial court's orders.

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